1949

Rennold Pender v. R. L. Bird and Mae C. Bird : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A—PLAINTIFF'S APPEAL

This appeal arises through a suit instituted by plaintiff and appellant in the district court of Salt Lake County, Utah for the quieting of title to certain real property situated on South Main Street, in Salt Lake City, Utah, in which action

plaintiff and appellant named as defendants, R. L. Bird and Mae C. Bird, his wife, who claim title to said property by virtue of a County tax deed (Tr. 2) and also by virtue of a deed from Salt Lake City Corporation issued by virtue of a sale of the property for special assessments, (Tr. 5). The property has a 50 foot frontage on Main Street and is situated near the corner of Seventh South Street and is 80 feet in depth.

Plaintiff and appellant named Frank B. Bowers and Winifred S. Bowers, his wife, as parties defendant in addition to respondents. Frank B. Bowers and wife answered plaintiff's complaint denying the allegation of ownership in plaintiff and claiming fee simple title to the property described in the complaint in themselves (Rec. 59 to 61 incl.). Attention is directed to the fact that these defendants appeared on their own behalf and not on behalf of Bowers Investment Company, a corporation, which corporation was the record owner of the property in 1928 through which plaintiff and appellant claims title in fee.

Defendants Frank B. Bowers and Winifred S. Bowers have since the conclusion of the trial of said cause and since the entry of judgment by the trial court, disclaimed all right, title and interest in and to the premises described in appellant's complaint, together with any and all rights they or either of them have under their affirmative defense or counterclaim as against either the appellant or respondents Birds (Rec. 106), therefore this appeal is not being prosecuted as against defendants Bowers.

The property affected by this action is now and has been at all times unimproved vacant property and not enclosed

with a fence (Tr. 53), which condition existed until tax title to same was acquired by defendants and respondents Bird in 1945 when respondents caused an advertising sign or bill board to be placed upon said property and at which time plaintiff and appellant placed a tenant in possession who operated a used car lot thereon, (Tr. 53 and 54). Thus both appellant and respondents claimed actual possession of the property from 1945 to the date of trial of said cause, each making use of the property subsequent to the year 1945.

Fee simple title to the property vested in Bowers Investment Company, a corporation of Utah, in 1928 (Tr. 2) which corporation was in 1928 and has been at all times thereafter, a corporation in good standing (Tr. 57). Bowers Investment Company, a corporation was not made a party to the action either by the original complaint filed by plaintiff and appellant, by the answers and counterclaims of defendants and respondents, nor by the complaint in intervention filed by Frank B. Bowers and his wife or the answer and affirmative defense set up in the answer filed by said Frank B. Bowers and wife. Neither did Bowers Investment Company intervene in the action.

B—CHAIN OF TITLE

The abstract of title offered by plaintiff and appellant and received in evidence at the trial as plaintiff's Exhibit "A", being a supplemental abstract of title from date of Feb. 14th, 1928 at 4:22 p. m. shows the chain of title to said property as follows, it having been agreed that fee simple title in 1928 was vested in Bowers Investment Company, a corporation, the deed to said corporation is not

contained in the abstract, however all instruments affecting the title to said property thereafter are as follows:

Entry No. 1—Certificate of sale for Special taxes to Salt Lake City Corporation, dated Apr. 20, 1928 for sidewalk extension No. 217, consideration being \$87.01.

Entry No. 2—Certificate of sale for Special taxes to Salt Lake City Corporation, dated Apr. 20, 1928 for Sidewalk extension No. 217, consideration being \$65.46.

Entry No. 3—Tax Sale, from Salt Lake County Treasurer to Salt Lake County, dated Dec. 21, 1928, consideration being \$26.53, to which sale taxes for the following years in the following amounts were added:

1929—\$33.82

1930—\$24.35

1931—\$24.45

1932—\$28.35

1933—\$31.96

1934—\$32.63

Entry No. 4—Certificate of sale for special taxes to Salt Lake City Corporation, dated Sept. 16, 1935, for paving ext. No. 208, consideration being \$1126.68.

Entry No. 5—Auditor's Tax Deed issued to Salt Lake County, to carry into effect the tax sale dated Dec. 21, 1928 (entry No. 3 above), dated Mar. 13, 1936, for a consideration of \$25.27.

Entry No. 6—Recorder's Deed issued to Salt Lake City, a municipal corporation for sidewalk

extension No. 211, (entries 1 and 2 above) bearing date of Dec. 21, 1936, consideration being \$6854.14 covering the property affected and also other property.

Entry No. 7—Quit Claim Deed from Bowers Investment Co., grantor to V. Lynn Hansen, grantee, bearing date Oct. 6, 1937, recorded Feb. 14, 1938, consideration recited \$10.00 etc. *I. R. Stamp* \$.50

Entry No. 8—Recorder's Deed issued to Salt Lake City, a Municipal corporation for paving extension No. 208 (entry No. 4 above) bearing date Jan. 26, 1940, consideration being \$35,714.16 covering the property affected and also other property.

Entry No. 9—Deed of Salt Lake County, to R. L. Bird, (respondent) grantee, bearing date Sept. 5, 1945, the consideration recited being \$350.00.

Entry No. 10—Quit Claim Deed from V. Lynn Hansen and Milla Hansen, his wife, grantors, to Rennold Pender (appellant) bearing date of Aug. 14th, 1945, the consideration recited being \$10.00 and other good and valuable cons.

Entry No. 11—Recorder's Deed issued to Salt Lake City, a Municipal Corporation for paving extension No. 208 (entry No. 4 above) bearing date of Jan. 3, 1946, consideration being \$1126.68, this deed covers only the property affected and no other property.

Entry No. 12—Quit Claim Deed from V. Lynn Hansen and Milla A. Hansen, his wife, grantors to Frank B. Bowers, grantee, bearing date Jan. 25, 1938, the consideration recited being \$1.00, etc. *I. R. Stamp* \$.50. (This deed was not recorded until Jan. 17, 1946)

Entry No. 13—Quit Claim Deed from Salt Lake City, a Municipal corporation, grantor, to R. L. Bird, grantee, bearing date Feb. 26, 1946, the consideration recited being \$910.00 which deed covers the property affected and other property.

C—RESPONDENTS' TITLE DEFECTS

The county tax deed shown at entry No. 5 of the abstract is defective in that there was no Auditor's Affidavit attached to the assessment rolls for the year 1928, the year for which the property was sold for taxes (Tr. 5), this being one of the deeds upon which respondents rely for their title to the property. The other source of title on which respondents rely for their title is the Recorder's Deeds covering the special assessments levied by Salt Lake City Corporation.

Defendants and respondents introduced no evidence at the trial showing title passing to Salt Lake City Corporation by virtue of delinquent special assessments (Tr. 66), nor did respondents prove the regularity of the proceedings leading up to the sale of the property for special assessments (Tr. 66).

D—STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS

Respondents contended at the trial of the case that even if the county tax deed was defective, respondents were entitled to prevail under the statutes of limitation which were pleaded by defendants and respondents as an affirmative defense and counterclaim to plaintiff's complaint. (Tr. 7).

As to respondents' contention it is pointed out that the action from which this appeal is taken was filed by appellant on October 14th, 1947, that it is the second action filed by appellant for the quieting of title to the property affected, and against respondents. The first action was filed by plaintiff and appellant on May 9th, 1947 in which action defendants and respondents Birds were named parties defendants with other defendants, and in said complaint appellant named also all other persons unknown claiming any right, title, estate or interest in or lein upon the real property described in the complaint adverse to plaintiff's ownership or clouding plaintiff's title thereto, as parties defendant. This first action did not include Frank B. Bowers and Winnifred S. Bowers, his wife, as parties defendants however.

As has heretofore been said, the first action herein referred to was filed in the office of the County Clerk of Salt Lake County, Utah, by plaintiff on May 9th, 1947, which was four days before the effective date of Sec. 104-2-5.10, Laws of Utah, 1947. The first action was dismissed without having been tried on its merits (Rec. 39). This allegation contained in plaintiff's complaint was admitted by defendants' Birds by their answer, paragraph 2 (Rec. 43). However, at the trial of the case, respondents urged that plaintiff and appellant was not saved by Sec. 104-2-41 U.C.A. 1943 because of the fact that plaintiff and appellant brought Frank

B. Bowers and his wife into the second action, and that they were not made parties to the first action, although it was the same property involved in the action and respondents Bird were named parties defendant in both actions. Even if such contention were sound, and we think it is not, respondents waved such objection through their admission in their answer.

Defendants and Respondents also rely upon the statutes of limitation as a bar to appellant's action, having pleaded by their answer and counterclaim as a bar, Sec. 104-2-5, 104-2-5.10 UCA as added by Ch. 18 and 19, Laws of Utah, 1943 as amended and Sec. 104-2-6 UCA 1943 as amended by Laws of Utah, 1943 Ch. 20, (Rec. 43 and 45). Plaintiff and appellant also relies on the statute of limitation, Sec. 104-2-5, 104-2-6, 104-2-12 UCA 1943 and on Sec. 104-2-5.10 Laws of Utah, 1947, all of which appellant pleaded as a bar to respondents' action and counterclaim, and denied by his reply that his action was barred by the statute of limitation.

E—TRIAL PROCEEDINGS AND THE EVIDENCE

Both plaintiff and defendants and respondents Bird filed their motions for judgment on the pleadings in said cause (Rec. 57) and (Rec. 63) each of which motions were argued orally before Honorable Roald A. Hogenson, and by the filing of written briefs by each of said parties, and on June 21, 1948 Judge Hogenson denied the motion of each party (Rec. 64).

The evidence shows, as is reflected by the abstract of title, plaintiff's Exhibit "A", that neither Bowers Investment Company, which company held the fee simple title in 1928, or V. Lynn Hansen to whom Bowers Investment Company

conveyed the property in 1937, nor Frank B. Bowers and Winnifred S. Bowers, his wife or either of them, paid taxes on said property, either general or special, subsequent to the year 1928 and for in excess of 17 years, all after title passed from Bowers Investment Company to V. Lynn Hansen. It is further evident that these taxes accrued to a substantial amount of money, this without even computing interest thereon over this period of in excess of 17 years.

Defendants and respondents also rely in addition to the **statutes of limitations** upon the testimony of witness V. Lynn Hansen in order to defeat plaintiff's and appellant's title (Tr. 64). However not one of the instruments of record as shown in the chain of title reflect anything but the fact that the title to the property passed from Bowers Investment Company to V. Lynn Hansen by deed without restrictions or conditions attached thereto and said deed bears a documentary internal revenue stamp. Neither is there a word of evidence, either documentary or oral, showing that appellant was informed of the fact that the deed which conveyed title to V. Lynn Hansen from Bowers Investment Company, was a mortgage only or that it was given and taken as security. Neither did Hansen in any one of his conversations during negotiations leading up to the delivery by Hansen of the deed to appellant, advise appellant of such fact. Appellant relied upon the county records when he paid the consideration and took his deed from Hansen (Tr. 39).

At the conclusion of the evidence, the court ruled that title to the property was at the time of trial still in Bowers Investment Company, that it had never passed out of that corporation and that the deed given by that company to V.

Lynn Hansen was only for security (Tr. 57 and 60). The trial court further granted judgment in the matter of appellant vs Frank B. Bowers and Winnifred S. Bowers, his wife, for no cause of action (Tr. 60).

The trial court also granted judgment in favor of respondents on the tax title shown by respondents (Tr. 68) and awarded respondents a money judgment against appellant in the sum of \$125.00 being the amount of rental received by appellant from the property during the period appellant had a used car dealer in possession of the property as his tenant (Tr. 69). Judgment was also granted to respondents for the possession of the property (Tr. 69) the trial judge giving as his reason for finding in favor of respondents, that appellants' action was barred by the four year statute of limitations (Tr. 71).

II.

SPECIFICATION OF ERRORS

Comes now the above-named appellant, and says that there is manifest error in the records, proceedings, and judgment entered in this cause in this, to-wit:

1. The court erred in denying appellant's motion for judgment on the pleadings (Rec. 64), for the reason that respondents' defense and counterclaim is barred by the statute of limitations as pleaded in appellant's reply.

2. The court erred in admitting evidence on behalf of defendants Frank B. Bowers and Winnifred S. Bowers, his wife, which evidence was adopted by respondents as their evidence, which evidence was timely objected to by appellant, as follows: answer to question: (V. Lynn Hansen called by defendants Bowers as witness) Q Did Mr. Bowers give you anything as security for the payment of that indebtedness (Tr. 19), for the reason that respondents by said examination put in issue the fact that the deed given by Bowers Inv. Co. to Hansen was in fact a mortgage and not a deed, without having pleaded such fact.

3. The court erred in admitting evidence on behalf of defendants Frank B. Bowers and Winnifred S. Bowers, his wife, which evidence was adopted by respondents as their evidence, which evidence was timely objected to by appellant, as follows: answer to question: (V. Lynn Hansen called by defendants Bowers as witness) Q Now that you have examined that, I will ask you if that is the paper which Mr. Bowers gave you as security for the indebtedness (Tr. 19), for the reason that respondents by said examination put

in issue the fact that the deed given by Bowers Investment Co. to Hansen was in fact a mortgage and not a deed, without having pleaded such fact.

4. The court erred in admitting all of the testimony of witness Hansen regarding the transaction between Hansen and Bowers (Tr. 19 to 21 inclusive) which was timely objected to for the reason that respondents by said examination put in issue the fact that the deed given by Bowers Investment Co. to Hansen was in fact a mortgage and not a deed, without having pleaded such fact.

5. The court erred in sustaining respondents' objection to appellant's request for leave to amend his reply to respondents' answer and counterclaim by adding to paragraph 9 thereof, the following: "The defendants are estopped from claiming title or reimbursement because of laches", (Tr. 34 and 35) for the reason that estoppel was a good defense to defendant's counterclaim, which defense must be specially pleaded; appellant was entitled to the benefit of the doctrine.

6. The court erred in admitting evidence introduced on behalf of defendants Bowers which was adopted by respondents over a timely objection by appellant, as follows: answer to question: Q Mr. Pender, how much did you pay Mr. Hansen for that? (Tr. 39) for the reason that consideration is expressed in the deed which was in evidence and it is presumed that it was a fair consideration, failure or insufficiency of consideration not having been put in issue by the pleadings.

7. The court erred in its conclusions as expressed as follows: "I think Mr. Pender has no title. I am not too

certain that the defendant Frank Bowers has. It strikes me that the title is in the Bowers Investment Company, that they never gave the title away. They retained the title. The only thing they ever gave was a security, and then Frank Bowers tried to convert this security into a deed back to himself, and he would get nothing out of it, and the title has been, is now, and always was in the Bowers Investment Company, subject only to such rights as Mr. Hansen may have." (Tr. 57) for the reason that Bowers Investment Company was not a party to the action. There is no evidence on which the court could so find and for the further reason that the title as between Bowers Inv. Co. and Hansen was not in issue.

8. The court erred in its finding that the statute of limitations barred appellants action (Tr. 71) for the reason that such finding is not supported by the evidence, in that there was no competent evidence to the effect that appellant's action was barred.

9. The court erred in its refusal to adopt the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law proposed and submitted by appellant, for the reason that said findings of fact and conclusions of law as proposed are in accordance with the evidence.

10. The court erred in making and entering its findings of fact to that portion of finding number 2, as follows: "for the purpose of securing an obligation of the Bowers Investment Company to the said Hansen", for the reason that there was no competent evidence to support or warrant said finding, in that there was no issue raised by the pleadings as to any obligation existing between Bowers Investment Company and Hansen.

11. The court erred in making and entering its findings of fact number 3, for the reason that such finding is not supported by the evidence, in that there was no competent evidence to the effect that any obligation existed between Bowers Investment Co. and Hansen at the time the deed was delivered by Bowers Investment Co. to Hansen.

12. The court erred in making and entering its finding of fact to that portion of finding number 12, as follows: "That plaintiff knew that V. Lynn Hansen and Milla Hansen were not the owners of the land described in finding No. 1; and that plaintiff was not a bona fide purchaser for value," for the reason that there was no competent evidence to support or warrant said finding, in that there was no issue raised by the pleadings as to lack or failure of consideration, and such finding is against the evidence.

13. The court erred in adopting respondent's conclusions of law.

14. The court erred in overruling the motion of appellant for a new trial, as shown on page 97 of the transcript.

15. The court erred in rendering judgment in favor of the respondents and against the appellant, as shown on pages 94-95 of transcript.

16. The court erred in its denial of judgment in favor of appellant and against respondent.

III.

POINTS ARGUED BY APPELLANT

The foregoing specifications of error, will be argued under the following propositions or points:

1. Appellant was entitled to have his motion for judgment on the pleadings granted. The statute of limitations was no bar to appellant's action but was a bar to respondent's defense and counter-claim.

2. The court abused its discretionary power in refusing to permit appellant to amend his complaint at the commencement of the trial of said cause for the purpose of pleading estoppel because of laches.

3. Respondents can not rely upon the evidence introduced by defendants Frank B. Bowers and wife which is the evidence upon which the court rendered its judgment.

4. Respondents failed to establish their title on which judgment quieting title in them and awarding them possession of the property could be entered.

IV.

ARGUMENT

Point 1.

APPELLANT WAS ENTITLED TO HAVE HIS MOTION FOR JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS GRANTED. THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS WAS NO BAR TO APPELLANT'S ACTION BUT WAS A BAR TO RESPONDENTS' DEFENSE AND COUNTER-CLAIM.

This is an equity action, a suit to quiet title and to recover possession of real property, together with the rents, issues and profits therefrom. Appellant filed the usual short form pleading alleging that he was the owner of the property and in possession thereof and that defendants, R. L. Bird and Mae C. Bird, his wife, Frank B. Bowers and Winnifred S. Bowers, his wife, and all other persons unknown claiming any right, title, etc. which follows the statute as to unknown defendants, claimed some interest or title in and to the property, and prayed for judgment declaring appellant to be the owner in fee simple of the property and adjudging the defendants to have no estate or interest in said property.

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