1949

Rennold Pender v. R. L. Bird and Mae C. Bird : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

Point 1

Appellant's cause of action was barred by the statute of limitations and respondent should have been given judgment on the pleadings.

Two related question are involved in this Point:

A. Can appellant identify this action with his first suit against respondents and others, within 104-2-41, U.C.A. 1943?

B. Are sections 104-2-5, 104-2-5.10, Utah Code Annotated, 1943, as added by chapters 18 and 19, Laws of Utah 1943, and Section 104-2-6, Utah Code Annotated 1943, as amended by Laws of Utah 1943, chapter 20, applicable to appellant?

It is conceivable that both the appellant's suit and respondent's counterclaim are barred and that neither can move against the other. This Court should endeavor to avoid such a result. If these statutes bar actions by both tax title holders and those holding under the former owner there seems to be no practical method of resolving the dispute over this property.

These statutes of limitations were intended, and should be construed, to protect purchasers of tax titles after four years, particularly where the tax title holder has gone into possession.

Appellant commenced this suit Oct. 14, 1947, (R. 3) which was more than four years after the effective date of these statutes (App. Brief 19) and this action appears

to be barred unless protected by section 104-2-41, U.C.A., 1943, so as to give appellant the advantage of his first suit against respondents and others. (Third Amended Complaint, par. 2, R. 39).

Our position on this question is based on the assumption that the first suit involved an alleged cause of action against these defendants Bird and no other persons. Upon the failure of that action, not upon its merits, a new suit could be instituted within one year under the provisions of Section 104-2-41, U.C.A., 1943. Since the case at bar involves the addition of a new and allegedly necessary party (R. 39, par. 3) it is not the same cause of action and is therefore barred by the statutes discussed herein.

“It is established that in order to comply with statutory provisions of the character under consideration, where a new action is brought after a failure of a prior suit, the second suit must be based substantially upon the same cause of action, and the parties in each suit must be the same.” 34 Am. Jur. 232.

This rule was affirmed in *Platz v. International Smelting Co.*, 61 Utah 342, 213 Pac. 187, where the court said at page 349:

“It may be admitted that when an action fails otherwise than upon the merits the statute of limitations does not run, and a new action may be instituted between the same parties and upon the same cause of action within one year. Also

that the plaintiff is entitled to the benefits of Comp. Laws of Utah, 1917, Sec. 6484.”

This was an action brought against the wrong corporation initially because the corporation had changed its name upon dissolution of the original and the second suit was held to be within the statute because the difference in identity of the defendants was immaterial.

An Annotation on this question appears at 3 A.L.R. 824, and the rule as to identity of the defendants is annotated at pages 826 to 828. The Utah case seems to be in accord with the general rule that parties defendant need not be identical if they are substantially identical, but no case goes so far as to permit the addition of entirely new and necessary parties. At page 827 the annotation refers to two cases involving quiet title suits which show the significance of the very question here involved.

“Where the first suit was against various defendants occupying various parts of the land sued for, and it was severed as to A as to his part of the land, and later there was a nonsuit in regard to him, it was held that the statute applied to a new suit against A. *East Tennessee Iron & Coal Co. v. Lawson* (1895) Tenn., 35 S. W. 456. But where, in a similar case, the new suit added other necessary defendants, it was held that the statute did not apply. *East Tennessee Iron & Coal Co. v. Walter* (1895) Tenn., 35 S. W. 459.”

In *Jordan v. Commissioners of Bristol County* (Mass), 167 N.E. 652, it was held that although a statute

extends the benefit of the limitation statute for one year for mere irregularity or formal errors which are corrected upon the second suit, a mistake in naming the wrong defendant is not within the statute.

And, in *Luft v. Factory Mutual Liability Insurance Co.* (R. I.), 155 At. 526, where a plaintiff brought suit for personal injuries against the insured and an insurance company which was dismissed because the wrong insurance company was named and then a second suit was brought naming the correct insurance company as defendant, the court held:

“There is no merit in the plaintiff’s further contention that they may prosecute their suits under the provision of Section 9, Chapter 334, G. L. 1923, which permits the bringing of a new suit within one year if the original action was for any cause abated. That statute is not applicable in the case of a defendant which was a stranger to the original action. See *Mackel v. Pawtucket Gas Co.*, 48 R. I. 485, 139 A. 308.”

The second suit must be on the same cause of action as the first suit in order to come within the protection of this statute. *Williams v. Nelson*, 45 Utah 255, 145 Pac. 39, 41.

Appellant therefore lost the protection of the statute (104-2-41) when the second suit was brought against additional and necessary parties, and also because the first suit failed on the merits. (See Point 2.)

Appellant does not contend that the statutes (104-2-5, 5. 10 and 6) are not applicable to one claiming under

the original owner against the tax title holder, but concedes that by arguing that the statutes apply to both parties, (App. Brief, 19-20) and either or both may be barred if the action, defense, or counterclaim be filed after four years from the effective date of the statutes.

This compels appellant to face the provisions of sec. 104-29-2, U.C.A. 1943.

Point 2

If respondent cannot prevail on Point 1, then respondent should have been given judgment under sec. 104-29-2, U.C.A. 1943.

Respondents submit that if this Court finds the case at bar is a cause of action different from that stated in No. 80375, appellant may not have the benefit of 104-2-41 and is therefore barred by the time provisions of 104-2-5.10, U.C.A., 1943, as amended.

If the court finds the case at bar the same cause of action as No. 80375, appellant is barred because he may not sue twice on the same cause of action unless he is protected by a dismissal without prejudice under 104-29-1.

The case of Pender v. Mose Alix, et al., No. 80375, was dismissed on motion of defendants Bird after the appellant had refused to amend following the sustaining of respondents' demurrer. The order of dismissal was as follows:

“The demurrer of the defendants, R. L. Bird and Mae C. Bird, to the complaint of the plain-

tiff having been sustained on September 11, 1947, by the Honorable Joseph G. Jeppson, Judge of the above entitled court, on the grounds and for the reason that there was a misjoinder of parties defendant, that separate causes of action herein are improperly united, that several causes of action are not separately stated, that paragraph 8 was ambiguous in not disclosing to which property the claim of any defendant related and for the ground that paragraph 8 was uncertain in not disclosing whether the claim of each defendant was as to all property described in the complaint or as to only certain parcels, and if the latter then to which parcels, and the said defendants having given the plaintiff notice of the ruling on said demurrer on September 17, 1947, thereby giving plaintiff until September 28, 1947, within which to amend his complaint, which time was extended by the court upon application of the plaintiff to and including October 8, 1947, and the plaintiff having failed to amend his complaint within the time allowed by the court, and the default of the plaintiff in failing to amend having been duly entered on October 10, A. D. 1947;

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that the complaint be dismissed as to the defendants, R. L. Bird and Mae C. Bird.

Dated this 18th day of October, 1947.

(s) ROALD A. HOGENSON
District Judge''

A recent Utah case held that such an order of dismissal barred an attempted second suit. *State v. Cali-*

ifornia Packing Corporation, 1944, 105 Utah 191, 145 P. 2d 784, at 786.

* * *

“Where a demurrer to the complaint is sustained on the ground that it fails to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action, and the defendant (plaintiff?) refuses to plead further, and the court dismisses the action for that reason, such judgment of dismissal will prevent the maintenance of a new action for the same cause of action where the allegations in the two complaints are substantially the same, and no substantially new facts are alleged in the new complaint. This is true even though the court was incorrect in holding that the original complaint did not state a cause of action.” (authorities cited)

Since the complaint as to defendants Bird in the second action, No. 81647, avers substantially the same facts as the complaint in the first action, No. 80375, appellant should be barred from bringing the case at bar.

As stated, by way of argument, in the California Packing case at page 786 of 145 p. 2d:

“A dismissal of action after a demurrer has been sustained and plaintiff has refused to plead further is not mentioned in Section 104-29-1 as a ground for a ‘dismissal without prejudice’ so it must come under Section 104-29-2 and be ‘with prejudice’.”

And so here, since the order of dismissal in the first suit was not upon any of the grounds stated in 104-29-1

the case falls within 104-29-2 and the instant suit, not following a dismissal not upon the merits, cannot be revived.

To repeat: If the cause of action is different, the second suit does not come within the protection of 104-2-41 and is barred by the statutes of limitations. And if the cause of action is the same it is barred by the dismissal on the merits under 104-29-2.

Point 3

The statute of limitations does not bar respondents' counterclaim.

A cursory reading of the statutes suggests that their purpose was to compel fee owners who lose their property at tax sales to take action within four years from the date of sale to the county, or forever hold their peace. A study of these statutes, as amended, suggests the possibility that both the purchaser of the tax title and the original fee owner must within four years from the date of tax sale bring action for recovery of possession or involving the title of lands sold to the county.

These sections are all so similar that they are confusing. As we analyze them, they are reconciled as follows: 104-2-5 as amended simply adds to the previous provision for actions involving recovery or possession of lands a shorter period than seven years for actions to recover property "held by another under tax deed." This limitation was elaborated by 104-2-5.10 which applied specifically to property sold pursuant to 80-10-68

(6), which provision was enacted by Laws of Utah, 1939, Chapter 101. This section (104-2-5.10) applied both to actions for recovery or possession and to defenses or counter claims for recovery or possession, restricting the maintenance or setting up of either. Upon amendment in 1947 this section was made applicable also to the property sold to the county prior to 1939 under the earlier law, which was 80-10-66, R.S.U., 1933, and the restriction on defenses was eliminated. As applied to the case at bar, this means that there was no restriction as to the defense after the effective date of the 1947 amendment (May 13, 1947), if it be assumed that this is a suit involving recovery or possession of lands. Since the defense in this action was interposed subsequent to May 13, 1947, to-wit: February 4, 1948, it is not barred by 104-2-5.10. If then this is a suit for recovery or possession, it could be that the action is barred originally by 104-2-5, and now by 104-2-5.10, but that the defense is not barred.

104-2-6 does not relate to recovery or possession of real property but to actions "founded upon the title to real property or to rents or profits out of the same."

In analyzing these statutes, we should not overlook the intent of the legislature as indicated by 104-2-5 to protect tax titles. The interest of the state is to apply property taxes equally and compel all property to bear its fair share of the load. If tax titles are made invulnerable they are made valuable and the county will be better able to sell them for all of the delinquent taxes.

In 104-2-5 the bar of the statute is placed against

“actions brought for the recovery of real property held by another under tax deed.” This is not ambiguous and deals with possessory actions. 104-2-5.10 still deals with possessory actions and would be inconsistent with the other statute if it barred actions and counterclaims by tax title holders. And the omission of the word “defenses” is consistent with that. If the former owner is in possession and continues in possession he may defend that possession and preserve the status quo even after four years from the auditor’s deed has run; but if such former owner needs affirmative relief his claim will be barred after four years.

But 104-2-6 does not deal with possession—it deals with “title to real property or to rents or profits out of the same” and the former owner is denied right of action or defense because of his delay. The former owner may be considered to have abandoned his claim and is not in possession to give notice of claim, so the legislature’s intent to settle tax titles requires that the former owner have no right to interfere with the title after four years.

This approach harmonizes the statutes and is backed by reason. The former owner is compelled to take his action within four years unless he is in possession, in which case he can defend his possession but cannot expand it by action or counterclaim.

It is doubtful whether any other view could be upheld under the constitution. These statutes commence to run from the auditor’s deed to the county. At that time there is no tax title holder and no cause of action. To

permit the statute to start running at that time might bar the remedy before the right of action has materialized from a sale by the county to a prospective tax-payer. This would tend to depreciate the values of tax titles, and would be based upon a violation of constitutional principles in barring a remedy before the right has become actionable.

This principle was thus stated in *Taylor v. Miles*, 5 Kansas 498, 7 Am. Rep. 558, at 566:

“A statute of limitation can only be applied where one person has received or suffered some injury from another person either in contract or tort. It must operate to bar a *cause of action*, for it seems absurd to say that a cause of action can be barred if no cause of action has ever accrued.”

This court has recognized the principle by its holding in *State Tax Commission v. Spanish Fork*, 99 Utah 177, 100 Pac. 2d 575, 131 ALR 816 that a cause of action accrues when it becomes remediable in the courts, with all prerequisites cleared away. In that case this Court quoted with approval the following statement from *Sweetser v. Fox*, 43 Utah 40, 48-49, 134 P. 599, 602, 47 LRA (NS) 145, Ann. Cas. 1916 C 620:

“It is a rule of universal application that a cause or right of action arises the moment an action may be maintained to enforce it and that the statute of limitations is then set in motion. The test, therefore, is, Can an action be main-

tained upon the particular cause of action in question? If it can, the statute begins to run.”

See also 34 Am. Jur. 47; 54 C.J.S. 204.

The Court should hold that the counterclaim of the tax title holders is not barred and that they should have had judgment on the pleadings and on the evidence.

Point 4

It was not error to admit testimony that the deed from Bowers Investment Company to V. Lynn Hansen was in fact a mortgage transaction.

Appellant considers this matter under Point 3 of his argument. He argues that there was no evidence that he got nothing by his deed from Hansen and also that the evidence was not admissible because the issue was not raised by the pleadings. The two positions are inconsistent.

Was the evidence admissible?

The evidence was of two kinds: that Hansen had no title to convey because his was only a security interest and that Hansen told Pender he owned nothing from which it follows that Pender was not a bona fide purchaser for full value.

No contention is made that evidence of lack of good faith or of notice of lack of title was improperly received. Appellant squarely objected, however, to introduction of evidence that Hansen's deed from Bowers Investment Company was actually a mortgage (R. 125-126, 131.)

The answer of defendants Bowers alleges that appellants "have no right, title or interest in said real property as described in plaintiff's Third Amended Complaint and that no other party has any right, title or interest in and to said property." (R. 60) In effect this is a denial of appellant's title and an assertion of their own title. Appellant so characterizes it. (App. Brief, 36.)

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